IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA



STEPHEN M. HOOD, Plaintiff Below,

Petitioner,

v.

No. 22-0214

JEFFREY E. HOOD, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HIS CAPACITY AS EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF DOROTHY HOOD, AND LINDA HOOD, INDIVIDUALLY, Defendants Below,

Respondents.



PETITIONER'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CABELL COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA

(Civil Action No. 15-C-546)

Submitted By:

Mark W. Kelley, Esq.

(W. Va. Bar No. 5768)
John J. Brewster, Esq.
(W. Va. Bar No. 12910)
RAY, WINTON & KELLEY, PLLC
109 Capitol Street, Suite 700
Charleston, W. Va. 25301
Telephone (304) 342-1141
Fax (304) 342-0691
markkelley@rwk-law.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred by granting summary judgment on all claims despite the existence of genuine issues of material facts.
- That the Court erred when it found that Appellant did not file with the Court any medical records cited in his expert's report.
- 3. That the Court misstated the law when it found that "the affidavits submitted by the attesting witnesses, physicians, notary, etc. are entitled to great weight based upon the findings in Cantarelli[.]"
- 4. That the Court misstated the law when it concluded that an insane delusion must be based on an "extraordinary belief in spiritualism" that testator followed when constructing a will.
- 5. The Circuit Court erred by concluding Appellant failed to plead "insane delusion" in his Complaint when Appellant pled "lack of testamentary capacity" which encompasses "insane delusion."
- 6. That the current law that the time to be considered in determining the capacity of the testator to make a Will is the time at which the Will was executed should be modified.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves the contest of Dorothy Hood's Last Will and Testament. Dorothy Hood was married to her husband Marshall Hood. Marshall Hood passed away in 2004 and Dorothy later passed away in 2013. Dorothy Hood and Marshall Hood had two children, Stephen "Sam" Hood and Jeffrey Hood. Neither Dorothy Hood nor Marshall Hood had any other children. Sam Hood filed this action after his mother Dorothy Hood passed away and he discovered that her Will left all of her property to his brother Jeffrey Hood. Over the years, Dorothy Hood executed at least two wills prior to the contested September 7, 2007, Last Will and Testament, and each of them divided her property equally between her children if her husband predeceased her. App. at pp. 975-997.

At issue is whether Dorothy Hood was suffering from dementia at the time she signed her Last Will and Testament on September 7, 2007, whether she had testamentary capacity at the time she signed her Will, and whether she was unduly influenced by Jeffrey Hood to disinherit Sam Hood. "Dementia is a progressive disease that does not lend itself to 'lucid intervals' of high level functioning." App. at p. 486. "Persons with dementia may have some degree of fluctuation in attention and alertness but these fluctuations are not seen in the executive functions that are essential for testamentary capacity." App. at p. 486. "For these functions, dementia goes one way and that is toward ever diminishing abilities." App. at p. 486. Just four months after signing her Will, Dorothy Hood was found permanently incapacitated due to dementia on January 28, 2008. App. at p. 774. On

January 31, 2008, Dorothy was transferred to Wyngate, a full-service long-term assisted living facility. App. at p. 783. Dorothy lived the rest of her life at Wyngate, ultimate dying of Alzheimer's disease on July 20, 2013. App. at p. 123.

There is a plethora of evidence that shows that Dorothy Hood lacked testamentary capacity at the time she signed her will on September 7, 2007. There is evidence from her friends and family, attending physicians, the attorney that drafted her will, and expert witnesses that Dorothy Hood lacked testamentary capacity the day she signed her will.

By 2006, it was evident to Dorothy's friends and family that she was suffering from dementia. William Burdette, Jr. testified that Dorothy got lost after leaving his store, returned and asked him to call her deceased husband to pick her up. App. at pp. 348-349. David Hager testified that Dorothy forgot that his mother's legs had been amputated and demanded that they lift the sheet covering her lower body to verify; forgot to go to his mother's funeral; was unable to recognize his children whom she had known for years; and that Dorothy's personal hygiene had markedly deteriorated. App. at pp. 356-358. Ortrud Vallejos, Dorothy's friend and housekeeper, testified that Dorothy defecated herself, did not clean herself, and that when she showed up at Dorothy's house, Dorothy did not recognize her. App. at pp. 381, 385. Ann Justice testified that Dorothy told her that she was feeling confused and that her "mind was not right;" and on another occasion, after attending a church service, Dorothy asked her when the service was going to begin. App. at p. 431. Taylor Hood testified that Dorothy was no longer able to pay her own bills or her taxes and that a caretaker was paying the bills. App. at p. 932. All of these facts show signs of worsening dementia and occurred prior to Dorothy signing the contested Will.

Likewise, by 2006, Dorothy's medical records indicate she was suffering from dementia. On August 4, 2006, Dorothy went to the hospital suffering from swelling of the tongue after having eaten a "large quantity of shrimp." App. at pp. 632-633. Dorothy had a shellfish allergy going back 40 years, yet she had forgotten and told hospital staff that she had "no reactions to shellfish in the past." App. at pp. 632-633. On October 12, 2006, Dorothy reported to Dr. Ahmet "Ozzie" Ozturk, M.D., M.S., that she was having "problems with falling asleep, waking tired in the morning, daytime fatigue, feeling sleepy during the day, and being forgetful of little things... and experiences moderate depression." App. at p. 642. These problems are indications of "sundowning" which is often associated with dementia. App. at p. 483. During this visit, Dorothy also stated to the clinical staff that both of her parents died of cancer, when in reality her father died from complications of diabetes in 1945, and her mother died of heart failure in 1972. App. at p. 642. These are symptoms of dementia.

On July 26, 2007 Dorothy was admitted to the hospital where she was described as having "unsteady gait, confusion, delirium," "appears forgetful at times; becomes agitated," and "reoriented to surroundings as needed." App. at p. 689. At this visit, she was seen by attending physician Dr. Chadwick Smith, M.D., who stated that "just

from my initial interview with this patient I believe she does have some underlying dementia which is present." App. at p. 698. Dr. Smith goes on to state that Dorothy repetitively asked him his name and what the situation was, and that she could not remember how long she had the pain she described or recall other medical history. App. at p. 698. Dr. Smith then stated "No further history is obtained secondary to her dementia." App. at p. 699. Dr. Laura S. Duncan, M.D., who also attended to Dorothy during this visit, described her as "somewhat forgetful, maybe even somewhat demented." App. at p. 696. Dr. Duncan went on to state that "patient seems to state one thing and then maybe forgets and states something completely different when asked the same question..." App. at p. 695. This occurred about one month prior to Dorothy signing her new will.

Dorothy saw her primary care physician, Dr. Kevin Yingling, on November 10, 2006, and March 9, 2007, whose notes indicate: "Neuro abnormal." App. at p. 646, 662. On June 6, 2007, Dr. Yingling's nurse returned a phone call from Dorothy and noted "Pt very confused about calling office. Pt. stated she did not want to call us." App. at p. 671. Dr. Yingling submitted an Affidavit stating that he believed Dorothy Hood had testamentary capacity when she signed her will on September 7, 2007, but like her other attending physicians, he did not see Dorothy on that day.

On December 4, 2007, Dorothy was found to have "poor short-term memory." App. at p. 714. On December 6, 2007, Dorothy was found to be "disoriented to place and time" and "Repeatedly asks why the nursing staff is here and what is going on." App. at p. 718. On

January 18, 2008, Cabell County EMS was called to Dorothy's home where she was found on the floor needing help to get up. App. at pp. 727-728. Dorothy refused treatment against medical advice, and signed her name "Dorothy Adkins," her maiden name from 67 years prior. App. at pp. 727-728.

On January 23-24, 2008, Dr. Mohammed Ahmed found that
Dorothy had dementia. App. at pp. 732-733. E. Saunders, M.D. noted:
"During her hospital course, she did have a history of baseline
dementia. It was discussed with her family that prior to this
admission she had spent multiple weeks at home, sitting on the couch
without taking care of herself." App. at pp. 781-782. On January 28,
2008, Dorothy was found permanently incapacitated due to dementia.
App. at p. 774. On January 31, 2008, Dorothy was transferred to
Wyngate, a full-service long-term assisted living facility. App. at p.
783. Dorothy lived the rest of her life at Wyngate, ultimate dying of
Alzheimer's disease on July 20, 2013. App. at p. 123.

August 2007, as Dorothy's dementia progressed, that Jeffrey Hood put his mother in contact with his best friend, attorney Paul Farrell, in order to draft a new will for Dorothy. App. at p. 314. Mr. Farrell had never done any legal work for Dorothy or Marshall Hood and did not have prior knowledge of the extent of Dorothy's assets. On August 7, 2007, and over the course of a week, Mr. Farrell took contemporaneous handwritten notes of his telephone calls with Dorothy Hood. App. at pp. 847-848. Mr. Farrell followed up those notes with a memo summarizing their conversations, which he made in anticipation of

litigation. App. at pp. 849-850. Those notes show that Dorothy Hood did not understand the nature and extent of her estate.

Mr. Farrell's notes reflect Dorothy's incorrect belief that Sam Hood owed her \$150,000 from the sale of the family business, Huntington Piping, which she and Marshall sold to Sam in the 1980s.

App. at p. 848. Sam purchased Huntington Piping in 1984 for \$316,418.

The purchase price was paid to Dorothy and Marshall in three installments of \$25,113 (paid in 1987), \$191,759 (paid 1988) and \$99,546 (paid in 1989) which is reflected on Dorothy and Marshall's tax returns for those years. App. at pp. 851-856.

Mr. Farrell's notes also show that Dorothy believed that she had not received any distribution from her late husband's estate, of which Sam Hood was the Executor. App. at p. 850. Marshall's entire probate estate consisted of one asset, a checking account in the amount of \$12,280.77, which was promptly distributed to Dorothy in April 2004 after Marshall's death in March. App. at pp. 865-867. Through prior estate planning, most of Dorothy and Marshalls assets had been placed in Dorothy's name over the years. App. at p. 850.

The notes also reflect Dorothy's incorrect belief that

Marshall owned a fortune in antique cars that Sam had in his garage,
in which she was the rightful owner. App. at p. 847. In reality, there
were only two antique cars and Marshall had sold them to Sam: a 1953

MG sold to Sam in 1988, and a 1917 Ford Truck sold to Sam in 1994.

App. at pp. 857-864. Sam paid for those vehicles, and received title
to and possession of those vehicles at least ten years prior to

Marshall's death. App. at pp. 857-864. Though these vehicles were

antiques, neither were particularly valuable at the time and were hardly a "fortune in cars."

Mr. Farrell's notes also show that Dorothy incorrectly believed that she had an interest in one of Jeffrey Hood's businesses, Snider's, which even Mr. Farrell suspected was not true. App. at pp. 848, 317-318. Despite these limited proffers from Dorothy, Mr. Farrell never inquired as to the extent of Dorothy's assets because "It's really none of my business at that point." App. at p. 308. "There was no discussion as to the value" of her estate. App. at p. 308. Because she was suffering from dementia, she did not understand the nature or value of her estate, and believed she owned assets that she actually did not. Moreover, her basis for disinheriting Sam was that she erroneously believed that Sam had wrongfully taken property that belonged to her. App. at p. 850.

For an estate that was worth about one-million dollars, Mr. Farrell drafted a will for Dorothy that was merely one and one-half pages in length, double spaced, not including the attestation page.

App. at pp. 105-107. The will disinherited Sam Hood, left all of Dorothy's property to Jeffrey Hood, and made Jeffrey the Executor.

App. at pp. 105-107. The will was executed by Dorothy on September 7, 2007. Paul Farrell and his associate Neisha Brown witnessed the will and Terrie McMahon Snow notarized their signatures. App. at pp. 105-107.

In regards to discussions they had with Dorothy during the will execution ceremony to determine testamentary capacity, Paul Farrell and Neisha Brown gave deposition testimony that directly

conflicted with affidavits they each later submitted to the lower court. Mr. Farrell testified at deposition that he did not review the will with Dorothy at the will execution ceremony in front of the other witness and notary. App. at 324. He asked no questions that would test her memory of her estate. App. at 324. He only asked "general competency questions, anticipating the litigation," such as "What day are we on? What month is it? Who is the president? Do you understand why we're here today? Questions like that." App. at 324. However, in his later affidavit, Mr. Farrell states generally that he had discussions with Dorothy to satisfy himself that she "was of sound mind, understood her business and the reason she was present that day and how she wished to dispose of her property." App. at pp. 109-110.

Ms. Brown testified at deposition that she did not ask
Dorothy any questions herself and does not recall any specific
questions that Paul Farrell asked Dorothy, other than "to orient her
to day, time and place." App. at 302. She does not recall Paul Farrell
asking Dorothy if she understood that she was leaving her entire
estate to Jeffrey Hood or if it was her intent to leave nothing to any
of her grandchildren. App. at p. 303. She does not recall Paul Farrell
asking whether Dorothy was on any medication, whether Dorothy had been
recently hospitalized, or if Dorothy had any questions. App. at pp.
302-303. She does not recall whether Dorothy read the will or had the
will read to her. App. at pp. 302-303. However, in her later
affidavit, Ms. Brown testified that she "had discussions with Dorothy"
to satisfy herself that she "was of sound mind, understood her

business and the reason she was present that day and how she wished to dispose of her property." App. at pp. 111-112.

In her affidavit, Terrie McMahon Snow testified that she observed Dorothy Hood's behavior and conversations with the attorney during the will execution ceremony, and that she was satisfied that Dorothy "was of sound mind and that she understood the circumstances and her surroundings..." App. at pp. 113-114. However, Ms. Snow had "no independent memory of Dorothy Hood or the signing of her will." App. at pp. 305-306.

Though testimony of the drafting attorney and subscribing witnesses are usually entitled to greater weight than other evidence that tends to show lack of testamentary capacity, the testimony here is weak and contradictory. Taken with the other evidence of attending physicians, and friends and family, there are certainly material facts that are contested which a jury should hear.

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND CIRCUIT COURT DECISION

On October 21, 2013, Plaintiff Stephen M. Hood filed a Complaint in Cabell County Circuit Court against Jeffrey E. Hood contesting their mother's will, having the Civil Action number 13-C-782. After extensive discovery, Plaintiff filed a Complaint against additional defendants Jeffrey E. Hood as Executor, Linda Hood, Paul T. Farrell, and Ferrell, White & Legg, PLLC to preserve his rights in those claims, while contemporaneously filing a motion to amend his Complaint in the action numbered 13-C-782. The two actions were then consolidated under civil action number 15-C-546. The lower court later

dismissed Paul T. Farrell, and Ferrell, White & Legg, PLLC from the case.

The Honorable F. Jane Hustead, the Honorable Christopher D. Chiles, the Honorable Paul T. Farrell, and the Honorable Alfred E. Ferguson, all Judges of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, voluntarily requested to be recused from presiding over this matter. This Court granted the Judges' request to be recused in its September 10, 2015, Administrative Order and also assigned the Honorable Gary L. Johnson to preside over this case. The case was later transferred to the Honorable Jay M. Hoke in 2017 after the Honorable Gary L. Johnson resigned.

Over the years, the parties filed numerous motions for summary judgment, memoranda in support thereof, and memoranda in opposition thereto, all of which are included in the Joint Appendix. On April 10, 2018, the lower court continued the trial on Defendants' motion and ordered Defendants to submit a medical timeline to Plaintiff. Defendants submitted the timeline as ordered. App. at p. 522. Plaintiff submitted a response to the medical timeline to the court on June 7, 2018. App. at p. 589.

Despite the plethora of evidence showing Dorothy Hood lacked testamentary capacity at the time she executed her will, the court below granted Defendants' motion for summary judgment on the grounds that Plaintiff produced no evidence that could prove any of his allegations. App. at p. 1040. On March 21, 2022, Petitioner timely appealed the Order granting summary judgment for Respondents.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner requests oral argument pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure Rule 19 because the result below was against the weight of the evidence and because it involves assignments of error in the application of settled law. Petitioner also requests oral argument under Rule 20 because certain issues are of fundamental public importance and also involve inconsistencies or conflicts among the decisions of lower tribunals.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

judgment to Defendants finding that there were no genuine issues of material fact in dispute. There are numerous disputes of fact that call into question the testamentary capacity of Dorothy Hood at the time she executed her will. Such facts show that her dementia, her insane delusions, and undue influence of Jeffrey Hood defeated her testamentary capacity. Upon the record as a whole, a rational trier of fact could have found that Dorothy Hood lacked testamentary capacity. The Circuit Court order granting summary judgment should be reversed.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). "A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syl. Pt. 2, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189,

451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Summary judgment is only "appropriate where the record taken as a whole could no lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove. Syl. Pt. 4, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

"A party who moves for summary judgment has the burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of fact and any doubt as to the existence of such issue is resolved against the movant for such judgment." Syl. Pt. 1, Johnson v. Junior Pocahontas Coal Co., Inc.,

160 W. Va. 261, 234 S.E.2d 309 (1977). "A party is not entitled to summary judgment unless the facts established show a right to judgment with such clarity as to leave no room for controversy and show affirmatively that the adverse party cannot prevail under any circumstances." Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York, 148 W. Va. 160, 171, 133 S.E.2d 770, 777 (1963).

"A genuine issue or dispute is simply one "about which reasonable minds could differ." <u>Dent v. Fruth</u>, 192 W. Va. 506, 510, 453 S.E.2d 340, 344 (1994). "A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law." Syl. Pt. 5, <u>Jividen v. Law</u>, 194 W. Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995).

VII. ARGUMENT

 The Circuit Court erred by granting summary judgment on all claims despite the existence of genuine issues of material fact. Summary judgment is only appropriate where the moving party shows that "it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syl. Pt. 3, Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). The evidence must be such that "the record cannot lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party." Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329, 366 (1995). "On a motion for summary judgment the court can not summarily try factual issues and may consider only facts which are not disputed or the dispute of which raises no substantial factual issue." Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 148 W. Va. at 171, 133 S.E.2d at 777.

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