### DO NOT REMOVE IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA



### STEPHEN M. HOOD, Plaintiff Below,

Petitioner,

No. 22-0214

FILE COPY

JEFFREY E. HOOD, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HIS CAPACITY AS EXECUYOR OF THE ESTATE OF DORTHY HOOD, AND LINDA HOOD, INDIVIDAULLY, Defendants Below,

Respondents.

### **RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CABELL COUNTY,

### WEST VIRGINIA

(Civil Action No. 15-c-546)

Submitted By:

v.

William L. Mundy, Esquire (WVSB #2678) MUNDY & ASSOCIATES P.O. Box 2986 Huntington, West Virginia 25728 Telephone: (304) 525-1406 Fax: (304) 525-1412 wlmundy@mundylawoffice.com Counsel for Respondents

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

Judge. Farrell personally delivered a draft to her at her home on August 13, 2007. (JA321) Three weeks later, Judge Farrell related that Mrs. Hood executed her Will at his office. According to him: (JA324)

As was my custom and habit, I would have met with her, gone over the terms – just her and me, gone over the documents with her. After she was satisfied and we insured we had what we wanted in the Will and in the Powers of Attorney, I would have asked my staff to come in and witness it and be a - get a notary

Additionally, at his meeting with Mrs. Hood to discuss the Will, Judge Farrell testified that he asked Mrs. Hood some general questions to assess her competency. (JA324) In further elaborating, Judge Farrell stated that he repeated these questions in the presence of the other witness and the Notary:

I wanted to assure myself and those witnesses to the Will that she was competent. \* \* \* Well, I had, because I had numerous conversations with her, where she expressed her desires. She was clear. She was consistent. She asked very pointed questions. \* \* \* And she was very clear about her instructions. \* \* \* [W]hen I had the notary and Neisha Brown witness it, I, again, went through the questions to say you're sure then that Ms. Hood was competent. (JA327)

In short, as Judge Farrell summarized "As I said, I satisfied myself, based on my monthlong interactions with her, that she was competent to make a Will" (JA328)

Neisha Brown, who was then an attorney in Judge Farrell's office, witnessed Mrs. Hood's Will. Ms. Brown corroborated that Judge Farrell had asked Mrs. Hood several questions to assure that Mrs. Hood was competent to execute her Will. More specifically, she testified: 'I would not have signed this Will as a witness if I had not believed that she was competent to sign that Will." (JA303) As she further explained: *Id*.

I listened to the questions that Judge Farrell asked her that day and her responses. And in my judgment, on that day and time, she was competent to sign the Will."

Mrs. Hood's competence to execute her Will was further corroborated by the individual who notarized her signature. Specifically, in her affidavit, Terrie McMahon Snow averred that she had observed Dorothy A. Hood's behavior and conversations with the attorneys both prior to and during the signing of her Will, and that Dorothy A. Hood did not appear confused at all nor was she hesitant to sign the Will; that she was satisfied that Mrs. Hood was of sound mind; and that she understood the circumstances and her surroundings when she executed that Will on September 7, 2007. (JA113) Ms. Snow further stated in her affidavit that she was knowledgeable about persons suffering from dementia and Alzheimer's and that she would not have notarized the Will if Mrs. Hood had exhibited any signs of dementia or Alzheimer's or confusion or hesitancy of any type at the time she executed her Will. *Id.* 

Kevin Yingling, MD, who had been Dorothy Hood's primary care physician since 2002, submitted an affidavit in which he stated that in his opinion during September 2007, Ms. Hood had the "requisite cognitive capacity to consent to medical procedures, conduct her business, including executing a Will." (JA1247) Dr. Yingling's conclusion about Ms. Hood's mental

competence is corroborated by her medical records. These records showed that Dorothy Hood was seen by Dr. Yingling at Marshall Health on July 9, 2007, which was about two months prior to the execution of her Will. Dr. Yingling's notes reflected that Ms. Hood was in her usual state of health and mental competence. (JA1250)

Mrs. Hood was seen by Drs. Ataro and Elbash at Marshall Health on September 12, 2007, which was about four days after she had executed her Will. Those physicians noted that Ms. Hood was "Alert" and "oriented to time, place, and person." (JA1253) Dr. Yingling made similar observations when he next saw Ms. Hood on September 20, which was about two weeks after she had executed her Will. According to those records, Dr. Yingling discussed with Ms. Hood her current living arrangements. His notes reflect that she was living alone, that she wanted to sell her house, and that she was thinking about moving to the Woodlands, a local retirement facility. (JA1122) Even more specific, Dr. Yingling in his affidavit (JA1247) affirmed her testamentary capacity:

That it is my opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that in September 2007, Dorothy Hood had the requisite cognitive capacity to consent to medical procedures, conduct her business, including executing a will, as her cognitive capacity was appropriate to make informed decisions for an 88-year-old individual.

As further evidence of her general competence, it was undisputed that at the time she executed her Will, Dorothy Hood lived alone and was managing her own affairs. Moreover, she continued to live by herself in the house in which she and her husband had resided until January 2008. Even the Petitioner conceded that at the time his mother signed her Will she was living alone and was managing her medical affairs (JA1200) and may have been operating an automobile. (*Id.*) She then relocated to an assisted living facility in this area. In fact, she was not declared incompetent until about five months after she signed her Will. (JA588)

It is also significant to note that the Petitioner claimed to have visited his mother on September 6 or 7, 2007 which was the exact time period in which she signed her Will. His only negative observation was that she could not find a nail clipper that had belonged to her husband. (JA1198) Certainly, nothing about that visit caused him to doubt her competence since he left after a short time and never mentioned any concern to anyone about his mother's mental status or about her ability to continue to live on her own and to manage her affairs. Id.

According to *Cantarelli v. Grasso*, No. 18-0839 (W. Va. 2020) which quoted *Floyd v. Floyd*, 148 W. Va. 183, 133 S.E.2d 726 (1963):

"The time to be considered in determining the capacity of the testator to make a will is the time at which the will was executed," *id.*, syl. pt. 8 (citation omitted), and in making the determination, [t]he evidence of attesting witnesses, of attending physicians, and of a lawyer who drafted the will, is entitled to great weight on the question of mental capacity of a testator to make a will. Although such evidence in favor of a will is not conclusive, it must be clearly outweighed by other evidence in order to support a verdict against the validity of the will. Syl. Pt. 3, *Floyd v. Floyd*, 148 W. Va. 183, 133 S.E.2d 726 (1963).

Of equal importance in determining the existence of testamentary capacity is the fact that mental acuity is not the test. An individual can have testamentary capacity even though he is not competent to transact business. *Stewart v. Lyons*, 54 W. Va. 665, 47 S.E. 442 (1903); *Prichard v. Prichard*, 135 W. Va. 767, 65 S.E.2d 65 (1951). This has been the law for many years. As pointed out by *Cantarelli* which guoted *Stewart v. Lyons*, 54 W. Va. 665, 47 S.E. 442 (1903) (Syl Pt. 3):

"[i]t is not necessary that a testator possess high quality or strength of mind, to make a valid will, nor that he then have as strong mind as he formerly had. The mind may be debilitated, the memory enfeebled, the understanding weak, the character may be peculiar and eccentric, and he may even want capacity to transact many of the business affairs of life; still it is sufficient if he understands the nature of the business in which he is engaged when making a will, has a recollection of the property he means to dispose of, the object or objects of his bounty, and how he wishes to dispose of his property." Syllabus Point 3, *Stewart v. Lyons*, 54 W.Va. 665, 47 S.E. 442 (1903).

The minimal evidence offered by the Petitioner not only fails to "clearly" outweigh the testimony and affidavits of the attesting witnesses, the drafting attorney, and Mrs. Hood's primary

physician but also, and even more importantly, fails to relate to her testamentary capacity. Relying primarily upon the recollections of some acquaintances about observed behavior that occurred many years before they were recounted in connection with this litigation, Petitioner suggests the existence of a factual dispute about his mother's testamentary capacity. From the prolix narrative in his brief, it appears that the Petitioner is attempting to create a misimpression that his mother was so demented that she was unable to function. If this were true, it would be logical to infer that Petitioner, who lived in Huntington not far from his mother, would have noticed and taken some action to ameliorate that situation. (JA1198) But he did not. Rather, as previously recounted, Petitioner was driving to or from his home when he saw his mother's garage door was open. He stopped to visit his mother but was not particularly concerned about her ability to live alone and manage her affairs. *Id.* 

A good example of the misimpression the Petitioner is attempting to foist upon this Court is the observation of William Burdette, Jr. Mr. Burdette was hardly a close acquaintance of Mrs. Hood. He was a counter-man at an electrical supplier who had waited on her when she purchased some light bulbs. According to him, possibly within a year after her husband's passing, which was three years before she executed her Will, she became confused and asked him to call someone to help her get home. Initially, she asked him to call her husband, which Petitioner suggests a lack of testamentary capacity. More than likely it was reflexive since she had only recently lost the person upon whom she had depended for more than 60 years. But what is more important, when she realized her mistake, she was able to ask him to call her son and when that was not successful, to call her housekeeper. (JA348-49)

Petitioner's brother-in-law, David Hagar, who did not live in Huntington, occasionally saw Dorothy when he visited his family. Mr. Hagar who never indicated that he had any medical training, gratuitously offered an opinion based only upon his occasional encounters, that Dorothy Hood was suffering from a "severe mental disease." Such opinion is not admissible pursuant to Rule 701 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, as Mr. Hager was not qualified as a medical expert on mental disease. Once again, if Mrs. Hood's mental condition was as apparent as Mr. Hagar described, it would have been obvious to the Petitioner who probably would have seen her on a regular basis. Certainly, it would be reasonable to infer that he would have taken some action to help her or, at a minimum, been able provide something to document her alleged condition. But he did not. More important, if her condition was so obvious to a lay person, it would have been more obvious to Dr, Yingling who had been her physician for about five years and who was far more competent than Petitioner's brother-in-law to make that diagnosis. Apparently, it was not that obvious, probably because Mr. Hagar was exaggerating to please his brother-in-law. So rather than corroborate Mr. Hagar's non-medical opinion of Mrs. Hood's mental acuity, her primary care physician opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that she was competent to manage her affairs and had the capacity to make a Will. (JA1247)

Another of the Petitioner's friends, Ortud Vallejos, testified that on one occasion when she visited, Dorothy Hood had experienced some fecal incontinence. (JA382) Noteworthy, Ms. Vallejos did not indicate that Mrs. Hood was living in squaller or that this was other than a single incident. (JA383) To the contrary, she assured Mrs. Hood that such accidents happen on occasion. (JA385) According to her, she helped Mrs. Hood clean herself (JA384). She said that she told the Petitioner's wife, Martha, about this. (JA386) But there is nothing in the record to indicate that Martha took any action or to suggest that Mrs. Hood's incontinence was other than an isolated accident which could have resulted from a myriad of gastrointestinal causes.

A lady who claimed have been an intimate friend for more than 20 years, Ann Justice, said

that on one occasion in 2006 Mrs. Hood was confused about whether a church service was about to start even though it had just ended. (JA431) The significance of this claim is not whether Ms. Justice's recollection of an insignificant event which occurred in 2006 is accurate but rather that it was the only incident that occurred in the course of a 20-year intimate friendship. Certainly if Mrs. Hood had serious mental issues Ms. Justice, as her intimate friend, would have been able to describe more than a single incident.

Finally, Petitioner's son, Taylor Hood testified that his grandmother had help writing the checks to pay her bills. He did not say she was unable to do so and he did not say she had a caretaker, just somebody to help her write her checks. (JA931)

Other than the single visit on September 6 or 7 that was previously described, (p.11, *supra*) Petitioner could not recount anything about his mother which would indicate that she was not competent. His wife, Martha Hood, in her affidavit recounted a discussion with Dr. Yingling in mid-September 2007. According to her, Dr. Yingling was asked whether Mrs. Hood was able to continue to live by herself. (JA435) Apparently, Dr. Yingling thought that she was because Mrs. Hood continued to do so. This discussion is significant for two reasons: First, Mrs. Hood's family accepted Dr. Yingling's evaluation of her ability to live alone and manage her affairs. Second, it shows that Dr. Yingling's affidavit which reiterated that conclusion, was based upon a medical judgment that he had previously made and which was based upon a considered analysis of her condition as communicated by her family as well as from his own observations. Obviously, since it was made in his capacity as Mrs. Hood's physician it has substantial credibility which a few sporatic recollections are insufficient to rebut.

The Petitioner suggests that Mrs. Hood's medical records show that "multiple attending

physicians" opined that she was "suffering from dementia." (Petitioner's Brief at 21) No records to support this claim have been cited. It does appear that in July 2007, Mrs. Hood was transported by EMS to St. Mary's Hospital because of a radiating pain originating in her neck. The ER physician, Dr. Chadwick, noted that she *might* have some underlying dementia. In connection with that incident, another physician, Laura Duncan MD, noted that Mrs. Hood was forgetful and "*maybe* even somewhat demented" but she also noted that she was "alert and oriented times three when answering questions regarding person, place, and time." According to *Canteralli* these records are irrelevant and are certainly not sufficient to overcome the affidavits of the attorney who prepared Dorothy Hood's Will, the subscribing witnesses, the Notary, and her attending physician. As was made clear by *Canteralli* at p.8, medical records that are unrelated to conditions existing at the time a Will are executed are irrelevant and immaterial:

Assuming petitioner properly authenticated the medical records, they do not speak to the decedent's capacity at the time the will was executed. In fact, they do not speak to testamentary capacity at all. Given that a testator need not "possess high quality or strength of mind" and that a testator's mind may be "debilitated" and memory "enfeebled," the records do not raise a question as to the decedent's recollection of her property or her intention to devise her home to respondent on the day the will was executed, as testified to by Mr. Wilson and the decedent's caretakers.

It is also significant to consider that the plethora of medical records (JA522-588) relating to Mrs. Hood during the period prior to her will and for a few months thereafter, other than the few that have been cited by the Petitioner, do not mention confusion or dementia. It seems reasonable to infer that if there was anything amiss with Mrs. Hood's mental status, it would have been noted in those records.

2. There was no conflicting testimony from the attorney who drafted the Will, the witnesses to the Will or the Notary. Each unequivocally testified and/or averred that Dorothy Hood was competent

### (a) Paul Farrell

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